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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

PAUL FANELLI, CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff,
V. :. No. 15-240
LANSDALE BOROUGH, et al.,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM

ROBERT F. KELLY, Sr. J. DECEMBER 15, 2016

Presently before the Court is Defendants, Land8ateugh (“Lansdale”), Officer David
Gori (“Officer Gori”), Officer James Owens (“Officer Owens”), and Officer Richard
McCarrick’s (“Officer McCarrick”) (collectively “Defendants”Motion for Partial Summary
Judgment and Memorandum of Law in Support thereof pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Proceduré6, Plaintiff, Paul Fanelli's (“Plaintiff’)Response in Opposition thereto, and
Defendants’ Reply.For the reasons set forth beldwefendant’ Motion is granted in part and
deniedin part.

l. BACKGROUND

This case revolves around an incidehiere officers were called ®laintiff's daughter’s
house due to a disturbance. Subsequently, Plaintiff filed a lawsuit pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
alleging claims for xcessiveorce (Count 1) againgdfficers McCarrick and Owens, bystander
liability (Count 1) against Officers McCack and Owens, conspiracy (Count Ill) against

Officers McCarick, Owens and Gori, supervisordbility (Count 1V) against Officer Owens,
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and aMonell* claim (Count V) against LansdaleSgeAm. Compl.) Defendants have moved
for Summary Judgment asatl claims except Plaintiff's excessiverée claim against Officer
Gori.

The pertinent facts dhis case begin on January 20, 2013, at approximately 3:00 p.m.,
when Plaintiff went to his daughterisaura Fanell(“Ms. Fanelli”), housdocatedat 808 Walnut
St., Lansdale, Pa, to drop off some paper products andemadisds. Fanelliwas going to
have surgery the following day. (Paul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, p. 127:11apda Fanelli Dep.
10/27/15 p. 21:10-24; Pl.’s Mot. in Opp. of Summ. J. Ex. G, Incident Rept. at 3 “Incident Rept.”)
Plaintiff had discussed coming overhts. Fanellis house the day before, thethad failed to
check his emails thatauld have alerted him that she had changed her mind about allowing him
to visit. (Paul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, pp. 124:20-125:8.) Ms. Fanelli has, on occasion, been
required to call the police regarding Plaintiff’'s presence on her propé&ayra Fanelli Dep.
10/27/15, p. 33:7-12.) When Plaintiff arrived at Ms. Fanelli's home on January 2012913,
glassstorm door was closed, but the inselid door was open(Pau Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, pp.
127:24 -128:2.) Plaintiff knocked and no one answered, but he could see into the house through
the glass dooaind saw Ms. Faneld boyfriend, Mike Tiziana (“Mike”), who was in the back
bedroom with two othemen and Mike’s father, Anthony, who was sitting on the sofa in the
living room. (d.atp. 128:2-7.)

Mike then exited the house carrying a piece of furniture with his two friehdsat (o.
128:19-21.) Ater asking Mike’s permissiorRlaintiff thenentered the homglacingthe food in
the kitchenand sittingon the sofa near Mike’s fatherld(at pp. 128:21-130:7.YWhen Plaintiff

initially entered the residence, Mzanelli was in the bathroom; howevbtike alerted her to

! Monell refers to the seminal United States Supreme Court case addresaingpatity liability. SeeMonell v.
Dept. of Soc. Sery436 U.S. 658 (1978).




Plaintiff's presence and she came out a few minutes ldtératp. 130:5-7.) Upon seeing
Plaintiff, Ms. Fanelliquipped, “who invited you here?’1d( atp. 131:21-24.)Ms. Fanelli
became “agitateddnd “angry’at Plaintiff's preenceand asked him to leavélLaura Fanelli
Dep. 10/27/15, p. 22:4:)

It was at this point that Ms. Fealli's boyfriend, Mike, became involvedPaud Fanelli
Dep. 1/11/16, p. 133.) An argument eedibetween Plaintiff and ide, andMs. Fanelli called
9-11 iforming them that Plaintiff wouldot leave her house and was picking a fight with Mike.
(Id. at pp. 133-38; Laura Fanelli Dep. 10/27/15, pp. 22:24-2R%intiff heard Ms. Fanelli call
9-11 and went outside and sat on the steps of the walkway leading to theoheaior the
police to arrive. (Laura Fanelli Dep. 10/27/15, p. 23:6-Th§ police arrived approximately
five minutes later. Id. at 2317.)

Officer McCarick was the first to arrive and observed Plaintiff on the steps of the house
appearing agitatedIncident Rept. at 3Richard McCarrick Depl/19/2016, pp. 11:24-12:8
17:19-18:1; 19:17-20:5.Dfficer McCarrick “very calmly’askedPlaintiff, “what happened
here? (Paul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, p. 151:5-1P)ainiff replied that he thought itwas twenty
somethings dramd’ and he did not think the police were necessaly. atp. 152:5-6) When
Officer Gori arrived Officer McCarrick entered Ms. Faneiihome to discuss the incidemth
her. (Incident Rept. at 3.; Rielnd McCarrick Dep. 1/19/2016, pp. 21:11-22:16.)

From this point forward, the partiestounts of what took place diffgreatly. To avoid
confusion, we will outline Plaintiff’'s and Defendants’ version separately belio worth
noting at the outset that shortly before this incident, on October 5, 2013, Plaintiff had spinal
fusion surgery in his upper back/neck at the C5-C6 veate Paul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, p.

60:20-22.)



A. Plaintiff's Version of the Events

Plaintiff avers thatvhenOfficer Goriarrived, he took position to the left of the sidewalk
at the entrancef the walkway that lead to Ms. Fdliie home. (Paul FanelDep. 1/11/16, p.
152:19-24.) Soon after, Officer Owens arrived and took position to the right of the sidewalk a
the entrance of the walkwayld. atp. 154:16-23.) While all of this was happening, Ms. Fanelli
was explaining to Officer McCarrick thahe did not want Plaintiff arrested; rather, she simply
wanted him removed from the premises. (Laura Fanelli Dep. 10/27/15, pp. 24:4-5; 30:14-17.)
As Plaintiff was sitting and facing the street with Officer Gori to his left ariit€@fOwens to
his right,he alleges that neitherff@er madeany effort to communicate with hin{Paul Fanei
Dep. 1/11/16, pp. 154:24-155:FP)aintiff became curiouabout what was going on the
house, so he stood up, took his hands out of his pockets, and started walking towards the
sidewalk(or the road). I¢l. at p. 155:6-10.)in response, Officer Gori barked out at hiwjtere
do youthink you're going.” (d. at p.156:6-7) Plaintiff repliedthat he Wanted to see wh'a
going on inside the house.ld( at p. 156:8-9 Officer Gori then infamed Plaintiff that he was
not “going anywhere.” I¢l. at p. 157:13-14.)At this time, Plaintiffiwas ficing the housand
proceeded to pladas hands back in his coat pocketkl. &t p. 157:16-22.)

Plaintiff avers that OfficeGGori requested that hake his hands out of his coat pockets,
and he immediately compliedld( at p. 158:5-14 Within ten seconds of Plaintiff removing his
hands from his jackeRlaintiff testified thatdue to a habit, he placed his thumbs in his pants
pockets leaving is fingers exposedd. @t pp. 165:23-166:5.Plaintiff testified thaOfficer Gori
then immediately grabbed his arm and began chicken winging Hich.at p. 166:8-10.)

Plaintiff stated that Officer Gori sgitll thought | told you to take your hands out of your

? Plaintiff uses the term “chicken wing” to refer to the act of grabbisgim and placing it behind his back and
then pushing it up towards his shoulder blade. (Paul FanelliDg&p/.16, pp. 17Q:7-171:16.)
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pockets.” [d. at p. 166:10-12.Plaintiff testified that at no time prior to Officer Gapiabbing
his arm and chickewinging him,did he resist or receive any verbal command from Officer
Gori. (Id. at p. 170:8-24.)

The chicken winging caused Plaintiéf try out in pain. (Laura Fanelli Dep. 10/27/15, p.
24:21-24; Michael Tiziana Dep. 1/12/16, p. 27:16-1R1aintiff also avers these cries of pain
prompted Officer McCarck to leave thénouse and joil®fficers Gori and Owensutside. Pl.’s
Mot. in Opp. of Summ. At 6.) Ms. Fanelli testified that Plaintiff was complying with the
Defendantsorders. (Laura Fanelli Dep. 10/27/15, p. 40:4-6Vis. Fanelli also testified that she
alerted Defendant® Plaintiff's recent neck surgeryld(at . 28:21-29:3.)Ms. Fanelli’'s
boyfriend, Mike, also tesiéd that Plaintiffappeared in pain and haterted Defendant® his
neck surgery. Mlichael Tiziana Dep. 1/12/16, p. 28:2-5

Plaintiff avers that Officer Owens used excessive force after the initiddechwinging
by Officer Gori. (Pl.’sMot. in Opp. of Summ. J. at®) Plaintiff testified that he broke free
from the chicken wing and clasped his hands together in the front of his botig,daitnot
disobey any commands or redis¢ (ficersin the process of doing s¢Paul FanellDep.

1/11/16, p. 178:4-21.Dfficer Owensacknowledgeshat hegrabbed Plaintiff'deft arm. James
Owens Dep. 1/19/16, p. 38:1-FPJaintiff alleges that when Officer Owens grabbed his left arm,
Officer Gori grabbed his right arm, and they both worked in tandem pulling back andnidrth a
“whiplashing” him. (Paul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, p. 184:14-21.) After the whiplashing subsided,
the officers released him from their grip and did not charge him with a criphés Nlot. in
Opp. of Summ. J. at 8.)

Paintiff alleges thatas a result of Defendantsse of forcehe experienced immediate

shooting pains in his spine, neck, arm, shoulder and face for which he sought medmahtreat



from his primary car@hysician, and for which he continues to tredd. &t 9.) His headaches
persisted, and became debilitatintd.) He developed post-concussion syndrome, fluid in the
ball joint of his right shouldeas well as trigeminaleuralgia, which is an extremepainful
condition that is very difficult to treat.(Id.) To date, Plaintiffs medicalbills related to this
incident are in excess of $71,000.00.)(

B. Defendants Version of the Events

Unsurprisingly Defendantdiave a very different account of what took plafterthey
arrived at Ms. Fanels home.After Officer McCarrick entered the home, Officer Goeigan
speaking to Plaintiff who did not listen to any questions and appeared agitatednidate
belligerent. (Incident Rept. at 4,;3avid Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 28:23-29:3, 30:12-31:22.)
Officer Owens arrivedhortly thereafteandalso described Plaintiff ag#ated and angry.
(James Owens Dep.10/16, pp. 22:10-24, 27:13-28:3)is worth noting that contrary to
Plaintiff's allegation, Officer Owens was aware that police were called to Ms. Fanelli's home
because Plaintiff was fighting with her boyfriendd. @tpp. 47:18-24; 48:21-49:16.)

Defendants allege th&faintiff then suddenly stood up, placed his hands in his jacket
pockets, and began walking towafdficers Gori and Owens(Seelncident Rept. at 4, 5; David
Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 34:22-3%:JamesOwens Dep. 1/19/16, p. 28:4-)WWhen both officers
repeatedly asked Plaintiff to remove his hands from his jackéeps he became
argumentative. (DefsMot. for Summ. J. at 4.Officer Owens attempted to explain to Plaintiff
that he needed to remove his hands from his pockets, so that he and Officer Gori could ensure
thathe was not armed, but Plaintiff did not resporBeglncident Rept. at 4, 5; David Gori Dep.
1/19/16, p. 35:5-17James Owens €p. 1/19/16, pp. 28:12-30:18After multiple requests,

Plaintiff eventually removed his hands from his jacket pocketsnfediately placed them in



his front pants poaits. (David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, p. 35:5-80fficer Gori again repeatedly
askedthat Plaintiff remove his hands from lpants pockets.Id. at p. 35:8-14.)Plaintiff did not
comply. Seelncident Rept. at 4, 5; David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 35:5;3@imhes Owens Dep.
1/19/16, pp. 32:24-35:p

Due to the report that Plaintiff had been involved in a disturbance during which he
threatened violence, his belligerent and angry behavior, his sudden movements, and his
reluctance to remove his hands from his pockets, Officer Gori and OfficarOngependently
decided to pat down Plaintiff for weapon&eélncident Rept. at 4, 5; David Gori Dep. 1/19/16,
p. 58:2-13;JameOwens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 34:1-11; 47:17-51Officer Owens testified that
he did not know what Plaintiff had in his pockets or hands and feared for hisafsim. (James
Owens @p. 1/19/16, p. 47:7-16.

After explaining to Plaintiff that they needed to ensure lteatvas not armed, Officer
Owens placed his hand on Plaintiff's shoulder, and began patting down his Saekac{dent
Rept. at 4, 5; James Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 35:4-36:21, 52:1-5.) Officer Gori placed his hands
on Plaintiff's right elbow and hand to remove it from his pock&8ee{ncident Rept. at 4, 5;
David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 36:11-37:Rlaintiff immediately pulled away from Officer
Gori's control. Seelncident Rept. at 4, 5; David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 37:4-7, 38:11-24;
James Owens Dep/1B/16, p. 35:4-10. Officer Gori then placed his hand on Plaintiff's right
wrist while Plaintiff interlocked his hands in front of his chest and arguedtietbfficers (See
Incident Rept. ad, 5; David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, p9:1215; James Owens Dep/19/16, p.
39:1-7.)

Plaintiff refused to releasedhgrip, so Officer Gori attemptetb pull Plaintiff’'s hands

apartin order to bring his hands to his stdeensurehe was not holding any objectsSefe



Incident Rept. at/4David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pi89:1640:8, 50:5-51:10; James Owens Dep.
1/19/16, p. 40:11-19.)t appeared to Officer Owens that Plaintiff was attempting to conceal an
item in his clasped handsSdeJames Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 41:17-42F93intiff was
repeatedly ordered to cease resisting and Officer @garnto search him for weapon&eé
Incident Rept. at 4; David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 40:9-16, 41:18-22; James Owens Dep. 1/19/16,
p. 40:16-23.)

Officer Owens placed his hand on Plaintiff's left wrist and patted dos/tebs,groin,
waistband, and pocketsS€eJames Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 37:19-38:24, 53:10-54.5, 74.:18-
23.) While searching Plaintiff, Officer Gori attempted to maintain control and etisate
Plaintiff could not strike him by pushing Pl&ifis wrist towards his chest.SéeDavid Gori
Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 44:21-45:)2At some point during this interaction, Plaintiff told the officers
thathe had undergone neck surger8edJames Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 37:14-18s)

Fanelli exited her home and made a similar staten{&gtelncident Rept. at 45; David Gori
Dep. 1/19/16, p. 47:2-15; James Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 37:14-18, 42:18c3cé.}he
search was completed, Officer Gori released Plaintiff's wi&&elncident Rept. at 4; David
Gori Dep. 1/19/16, p. 40:14-18.) Throughout the sedelfendants allege th&faintiff
continued to refuse orders to release his hands from in front of his feelgDgvid Gori Dep.
1/19/16, p.42:21-43:13.)

Once satisfied Plaintiff did not have awgapons, Officer Gori and Officer Owens
released him and continued to question him about the disturbalht®atthey received (See
David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 45:23-46:22; James Owens Dep. 1/10/4B,1317.)

Defendants contend thatro time dd Plaintiff state he was in pain or appear to be injur&se (



David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 45:23-46:22; James Owens Dep. 1/19/16, p. 45Ri2Had
McCarrick Dep. 1/19/2016, pp. 42:9-15, 43:5-8.)

Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) states that summary judgment is fifdpere is
no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitledrteepidas a matter

of law” SeeHines v. Consol. Rail Corp., 926 F.2d 262, 267 (3d Cir. 1991). The Court asks

“whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require sabriugbe jury or

whether . . . one party must prevail as a matter of laanderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477

U.S. 242, 251-52 (1986). The moving party has the initial burden of informing the court of the
basis for the motion and identifying those portions of the record that demonstrateetieaifs

a genuine issue of material facelotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). “A fact is

materal if it could affect the outcome of the suit after applying the substantive laxtheFua
dispute over a material fact must be ‘genuine,’ i.e., the evidence must be such ‘dsainalée

jury could return a verdict in favor of the non-moving pattyCompton v. Nat'l League of

Prof’l Baseball Clubs, 995 F. Supp. 554, 561 n.14 (E.D. Pa. 1998).

Summary judgment must be granted “against a party who fails to make a showing
sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that pasg; sued on which that
party will bear the burden of proof at trialCelotex 477 U.S. at 322. Once the moving party
has produced evidence in support of summary judgment, the non-moving party must go beyond
the allegations set forth in its pleadings aondnter with evidence that presents “specific facts

showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Fed. R. Civ. P. S@@Big Apple BMW, Inc.

v. BMW of N. Am. Inc., 974 F.2d 1358, 1362-63 (3d Cir. 1992). “More than a mere scintilla of

evidence in its favor” must be presented by themawing party in order to overcome a



summary judgment motion. Tziatzios v. United Staiégl F.R.D. 410, 411-12 (E.D. Pa. 1996).

If the court determines that there are no genuine issues of material fasttheary judgment
will be granted.Celotex 477 U.S. at 322.

II. DISCUSSION

A. Excessive Force Claim (Count I) Against Officer Owens

We first consider whether Plaintiff has presented enough evidence to coestaiize
issue of material fact regarding his claim agaiicer Owensfor excessive forceAs noted,
Plaintiff brings his claim pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 arguing that Officer OwerSfaoe
Gor used excessive force against him in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. Defenda
only moved for summary judgment regarding ¢keems against Officer Owens, so our analysis
will be limited accordingly.

The United States Supreme Court (“Supee@ourt”) has explained that “[w]here .the
excessive force claim arises in the context of an arrest or investigatory stfe® citizen, it is
most properly characterized as one invoking the protections of the Fourth Amendmemt, whic
guarantees tizens the righto be secure in their persons . . . against unreasonaldeizures.”

Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 394 (1989) (internal citations and quotations onviteed).

thus analyze excessive force claims in the arresegbander thé&ourth Amendmens

“objective reasonableness” standard, seg, €urley v. Klem, 499 F.3d 199, 206 (3d Cir. 2007)

(citing Graham 490 U.S. at 383 and so “to state a claim for excessive force as an unreasonable
seizure under the Fourth Amendment, a plaintiff must show that a seizure oendribct it

was unreasonable Estate of Smith v. Marascd30 F.3d 140, 148 (3d Cir. 2005) (internal

guotations and alterations omitted).
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When determining whether a defendant’s actions were reasonable, the oaldtpsty
“careful attention to the facts and circumstances of each particular case, inchedsayérityof
the crime at issue, whether the suspect poses an immediate threat to the sadaiffiobdhor
others, and whether heastively resistingarrest or attentpg to evade arrest by flight.”

Graham 490 U.S. at 396 (quotirigell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 559 (197). Other relevant

factorsmay include “thepossibility that the persons subject to the police action are violent or
dangerous, the duration of the action, whetheraction takes place in the coritekeffecting an
arrest, thgossibility that thesuspect mape armed, and the numbédrpersons with whom the
policeofficers mustcontend abne time.” _Kopec v. Tate861 F.3d 772, 777 (3d Cir. 2004). The
United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit (“Third Circuit”) has Hedd physical

injury may ke relevanto the use of force analysis, but that an injury isanpterequisite to

establishingexcessive forceSharrar v.Felsing 128 F.3d 810, 822 (3rd Cir. 1997).

Plaintiff cites Third Circuit case law for the incorrgeoposition thathe test for
“reasonableness under the Fbukmendment should frequentlgmain a questioaf fact for the
jury.” (Pl.’s Mot in Opp. of Summ. J. at 15-16 (citing Kopec, 361 F.3d at 777) (quoting

Abraham v. Raso, 183 F.3d 279, 288 (3rd Cir. 1998Bhisis not current law after a more recent

decisionby the Supreme Court in Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372 (2007). The Supreme Court in
Scottexplained that “[a]t the summary judgment stageancdthe court] ha[spetermined the
relevant set of facts and drawn all inferences in favor of the nonmoving party taeht e
supportable by the record . . . leasonableness of [the offitg] actions . . is a pure question
of law.” 1d. at 381 n.8.

Here, there is a genuine dispute of materietl fagarding the use of force Bfficer

Owens; therefore, summary judgment is not warranted. The events of what took place vary
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greatly depending on which party is telling the story. Defendants contend thétfflad a
hostile demeanor when they arrived, émathe refused to comply with their orders. (Defs.’
Mot. for Summ. J. at 8-10.) Essentially, Defendants argue tithe nature of the visit was
disturbance call and Plaintiff was arguing with the officers, refusing to lgomith their orders,
and denying requests to remove his hands from his front pockets, it was reasonalfiegior Of
Owens to grab Plaintiff'sefft shoulder and pat down his legs, groin, and pockets for a weapon.
(Id.) Conversely, Plaintiff contends that Officer Owens and Officer Gori did mgtgipat him
down; rather, they both worked in tandemwhiplasii him back in forth by his arms. (B
Mot. in Opp. of Summ. At 1215.) Additionally Plaintiff contends that he was not resisting
arrest, andhatthe force was appléewithout anyprior verbal commands.Id.)

There are clearly disputes over material facts regarding what occueethafpolice
arrived. Defendants appear to feel entitedummary judgmerbecause they want us to adopt

their version of what took place. However, that is not something we are entitled to do under

these circumstances. Sdarino v. Indus. Crating Co., 358 F.3d 241, 247 (3d Cir. 2004) (
considering a motion for summary judgment, a district court may not make crgdibilit
determinations or engage in any weighing of the evidence; instead, the non-mowitsy part
evidence is to be believed and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn indmi&)famternal
citations and quotations omitted). This is not a situation where Plainti€ission of events is

so utterly discredited by the record that no reasonable jury could have believe@Seesott

550 U.S.at380-81. Under these circumstances, a jury could conclude that Officer Owens did
assist Officer Gori in whiplashing Plaintiff back and forth, and this appicadf force was
objectively unreasonable in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Therefore, sujuadgnyent

is denied for Countlleging Officer Owens used excessive force
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B. Failure To Intervene/Bystander Liability Claim? (Count II)

We nextconsider whether Plaintiff has presented enough evidence to create a genuine
issue of material fact regarding his claim for failure to intervene/bystéintigity under the
Eight Amendment. We find that there isnaterial factual disputeegardingwhat exactly
occurred and summary judgment is not warranted against Officer Owens; hosuenarary
judgment is warranted for the claim against Officer McCarrick.

Courts have held that a police officer has a duty to take reasonable steps taaprotec
victim from another officés use of excessive force, even if the excessive force is employed by a

superior. _Smith v. Mensinger, 293 F.3d 641, 650 (3d Cir. 20023 police officer, whether

supervisory or not, fails or refuses to intervene when a constitutional violation saich as
unprovoked beating takes place in his presence, the officer is directly liableSeutien 1983.”

Id. at 650-51 (quoting Byrd v. Clark, 783 F.2d 1002, 1007 (11th Cir. 1986)). However, an
officer is only liable if there is a réstic and reasonable opportunity to interveszeClark,

783 F.2d at 1007 (instructing the district court upon remand to determine whether the @ficer w

in a position to intervene); Putman v. Gerloff, 639 F.2d 415, 423-24 (8th Cir. 1981) (liability

exists only if the non-intervening officer saw the beating or had time to readffénding

officer); Byrd v. Brishke, 466 F.2d 6, 11 (7th Cir. 197ability for failure to intervene exists

only if thebeating occurred in the officer's presence or atherwise within his knowledge).
To the extent Plaintiff brings suit against Officer McCarrick for failing torireee,
summary judgment must be granted. Officer McCarrick was not involved in securing or

searching Plaintifbefore he entered Ms. Fanalhomeand the interaction between Plaintiff

* Plaintiff refers to Count Il as bystander liability; however, this is synwus with failure to interveneSee
Goldwire v. City of Philg.130 F. Supp. 3d 936, 940 (E.D. Pa. 2015) (referencing a single causemgactio
“bystander liabiky or failure to intervene”). Since both terms are used interchangeablyi/lwse failure to
intervene throughout our analysis to avoid confusion
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andOfficers Gori and Owensnded before Officer McCarrick returnedtside (SeeRichard
McCarrick Dep. 1/19/2016, pp. 33:24-35:9, 40:24-41:6.) Furthermore, Plaintiff's contention that
cries of pain prompted Officer McCarrick to leave the home is contradicted loyvhi

testimony wherein he stated that Officer McCarrick was notaeithie house during tladleged

use of force by Officer Gofi. (SeePaul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, pp. 173:22-174:5.)

There was simply no opportunityr Officer McCarrick to intervene and stop takeged
excessive force since he arrived as Plaintiff was being reléasedfficers Gori and Owens’s
control. SeeRichard McCarrik Dep. 1/19/2016, p. 35:5-24.) Nothing in the record indicates
thatOfficer McCarrick was in close proximity to the alleged excessive force, so that ltk coul
have poéntially thwarted Officer Gori or Officer Owenslllegedactions. Thus, Officer
McCarrick did not have a reasonable opportunity to intervene as the allegedvexitass did

not take place in his presencgeeClark, 783 F.2d at 1007; Brishke, 466 F.2d at Therefore,

summaryjudgment is warranted for the failure taervene claim against Officer McCarrick.
However, summary judgment is not proper far thaim against Officer Owen®fficer
Owens, by every account, was standing next to Officer Gori waetldgedly began chicken
winging Plaintiff. SeePaul Fanelli Dep. 1/11/16, p. 168:8-11; Incident Rept. at 4, 5; David Gori
Dep. 1/19/16, p. 58:2-13; James Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 34:1-11; 47:17-51:9.) Standing
directly next to Officer Gori, Officer Owes was ima position to intervene and hadealistic and
reasonable opportunity to do since it vaady the Officers and Plaintiff present at the scehe
the alleged incidentAlthough Defendants contend they were simply patting Plaintiff down,

Plaintiff contends that Officer Gori chicken wingleith while Officer Owens stood there in

* SeeScott 550 U.S. at 38@1 (“When opposing parties tell two differentriés, one of which is blatantly
contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, ahmud 80t adopt that version of the
facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary judgrijent.
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silenceand watched. Thus, there is a material factual digpgerdingwvhat exactly occurred
and summary judgment is not warranted for the failuratervene claim against Officer Owens.

C. Conspiracy Claim (Count IlI)

We are next confronted with the issue of whethere was a conspiracy among Officers
McCarrick, Owens, and Gori to violal®aintiff's constitutional rights. An actor who does not
directly commit a violation of constitutional rights can nonetheless bdibbld under 42
U.S.C. 1983 if he or she engaged in a conspiracy with others to commit such violations. Cnty.

Concrete Corp. v. Town of Roxbury, 442 F.3d 159, 175 (3d Cir. 2006). In order to prevail on a

Section 1983 conspiracy claim, a plaintiff must prove (1) the existence of a copspualving
state action and (2) a deprivation of civil rights in furthemof the conspiracy by a party to that

conspiracy.SeeAdickes v. S. H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 150 (1970); Rosembert v. Borough

of East Lansdowne, 14 F. Supp. 3d 631, 647 (E.D. Pa. 2014).

“In order to survive summary judgment, plaintiff must destoate that there is a
possibility that the jury can infer from the circumstances (that the allegegdicaios) had a
‘meeting of the mindsand thus reached an understanding to achieve the conspiracy’s objective.”

Fioriglio v. City of Atlantic City 996 F. Supp. 379, 38§®.N.J. 1998) (quotind\dickes 398

U.S. at 158-5%internal quotations omitted)3eealsoStartzell v. City of Phila.533 F.3d 183,

205 (3d Cir. 2008jexplaining that glaintiff must show there was an agreement or meeting of
the minds to viola their constitutional rights): Plaintiff must prove with specificity the
circumstances of the alleged conspiracy, such as those addressing the pzTspioacy,

object of the conspiracy, and certain actions of the alleged conspitaten to achieve that

purpose€. Id. (citing Labalokie v. Capital Area Intermediate UrdR6 F. Supp. 503, 508 (M.D.

Pa.1996) (internal quotations omittedWhere a civil rights conspiracy is alleged, there must
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be some specific facts in the complaivhich tend to show a meeting of the minds and some

type of concerted activityDeck v. Leftridge, 771 F.2d 1168, 117@0&ir. 1985). A plaintf

cannot rely on subjective suspicions and unsupported speculation. Young v. Kann, 926 F.2d

1396, 1405 n.16 (3d Cir. 1991).

Here, Plaintiff has failed tallegethat there was a “meeting of the mindstiong
Defendants Plaintiff contends thahere was a meeting of the mirtdsviolate his constitutional
rightsbecause Officer Owens and Officer McCarrick were aware that Officer Gori wasngpply
unconstitutional force when lohicken wingedPlaintiff, and they stood by and acquiesced in the
behavior. (Pl.’'s Mot. in Opp. of Summ.at.1%18.) Plaintiff adds that this is evidenced by the
factthathescreamed out in pain and had previously informed Defendants of his prior neck
surgery. [d.) On the other hand, Defendants basically contend that Officer McCarrick eziain
inside when Officers Gori and Officer Owens independently decided to pat dowwtifiFiar
weapons. (Defs.” Mot. for Summ. J. at 12)13

Plaintiff alleges thathe case of Adickestands for the proposition that a meeting of the

minds can occur “with something as subtle as a nod, or even just the presence ofdcdffpaice
while an unconstitutional act is going on.” (Pl.’s Mot. in Opp. of Summ. J. 4titi®p

Adickes 398 U.S. 144). However, this is simply not the case. Besides incorrectly citing
Adickesfor this proposition Plaintiff fails to citeto any case alleging th#te mere acquiescence
of unlawful behaviors sufficient to show that there was a “meeting of thedsiifor a

conspiracy claint.

> Although not cited by either party, we do recognize that the UniteédsSEourt of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit
held that “[a]cquiescence can amount to a conspiracy agreement whee polioa officer watches an open breach
of the law and does notig to seek its preventionSeeHafner v. Brown 983 F.2d 570, 578 (4th Cir.1992).
However, not only is this decision not binding on us, over twenty yeaesgassed sinddafner, and in that time,

not one Circuit, including the Third Circuit, has newited it for the principle that merely observing a violation
amounts to a conspiracy.
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In Adickes the petitioner, a white New York teacher who, in 1964, volunteered to teach
at a Mississippi “Freedom School,” was denied service at a lunch counter whetesttett to
eat with hessix black studentsAdickes 389 U.S. at 149. After being so denied, she and her
class exited the restaurant, at which time, a police officghd'had previously entered [the]
store,” arrested petitioner on a groundless charge of vagrancy and took her intg. tustod
The teaher then brought a § 1983 action agatihstrestaurantlleging that both the refusal to
serveherand the arrest were the product of a conspiracy between the restautainé town
police. Id. at 149-50.

In reversing the lower court’s grant of summary judgment in favor the respsntee
Court focused on the joint activity of the parties. Consistent with the law of cangpine
Court found it highly unlikely that a police officer, who had been inréiséauranat the same
time as thepetitioner, just happened to coincidentally arrest petitioner on a baseless charg
immediately after she left the restauraldt. at 159 Consequently, the Court maintained that the
conspiracy claim would fail only if respondents could prove that the police offecenot in the
restauranat the same time as petitiorfetd. The Court found it “particularly noteworthy that
the two officers involved in the arrest each failed in his affidavit to foreth@spossibility (1)
that he was in theestaurantwhile petitioner was there; and (2) that, upon seeing petitioner with
Negroes, he communicated his disapproval[testaurantemployee, thereby influencing the

decision not to serve petitionerld. at 159.

¢ « Adickesthus led many courts to conclude that the defendant has the burden dy aispabving the existence of
all material facts in order to prevail on a motfon summary judgment.’Morris v. Orman No. 875149, 1989 WL
17549,at*10 (W.D. Pa. March 1, 1989) (citing LouBgderal Summary Judgment Doctrine: A Critical Analysis
83 Yale L.J. 745 (1974)). However, Supreme Court cases suggestuttath@ve been readirglickestoo

broadly. Seeid. at*10-12 (explainingn detail how the Supreme Court’s decision€elotex 477 U.S. 317,
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby477 U.S. 242 (1986), atdatsushita Electric Industrial Co. v. Zeni#i/5 U.S. 574
(1986) do not explicitly overrulddickes however, the decisions do suggest that the extremely stringentrdtafda
Adickesneed not apply in every federal civil conspiracy claim).
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Contrary to Plaintiff's beliefsAdickesdid not hold that an officer's mere presence at the
scene was enough to show a meeting of the minds. Rather, the Gadidkesstated that a
jury could infer, based on the officer’s presence, that there was a meeting afdsedostween
the officer and theestauranemployee because of the sequence of events that took place soon
therafter. 1d. at 159. It was simply to coincidental that the officer arrested the petitioner on a
baseless charge right after she left the restawtagite she wasnproperly refused servicdd.
Thus, it was not the officer’s presence alone that showed a meeting of the nihetsjtravas
the officer’s presence combined with all of the events that took place that shovpedsheslity
that the officer and theestauranemployee came to some understanding to refuseetiiteoner
service.

Here,Plaintiff relies on nothing more than mere suspicion and unsupported speculation
for hisconspiracy claim, which is somethititathe cannot doSeeYoung, 926 F.2d at 1405
n.16.RegardingOfficer McCarrick hewas not involved in securing or searching Plaintiff as the
interaction ended and Plaintiff had been released by thdhmhlee arrived. (Sedichard
McCarrick Dep. 1/19/2016, pp. 33:24-35:9, 40:24-418egarding Officer Gori and Officer
Owensthey ndicated in their depositions that they did not discuss with each other whether to
pat Plaintiff down prior to touching himSéeJames Owens Dep. 1/19/16, pp. 34:1-11; 47:17-
51:9; David Gori Dep. 1/19/16, p. 58:2-13

Plaintiff has failed to provide grevidenceor allege specific facts showitigat there was
a meeting of the minds betweddefendants. Officer McCarrick was not even present when the
alleged constitutional violations occurred, and Officers Gori and Owens indepgrat&tipted
to search Plaintiff. These facts are distinguishable from the ones in Atboksch Plaintiff

attempts taely upon. Here, unlike the officers Adickes Officers McCarrick, Owens, and
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Gori all foreclose the possibility that there was a conspiracy among therditating that they
were either not at the scemtaen the alleged constitutional violation tqakce, i.e., Officer
McCarrick, or did not communicate with each other regarding patting Plaintiff down prior to
taking action, i.e. Officers Gori and Owens. Furthermore, the facts are coinsidental that

there almost had to be a meeting of the mlikdsin Adickes It does not matter whethese

adopt Plaintiff's or Defendants’ version of the facts, unlik@dhickes either scenario could
have likely occurred without a meeting of the minds. Plaintiff has failetldgespecific facts
in his Complaint which tend to show a meeting of the minds. Thersiamanary judgment will
begranted as it pertains to Plaintiff'smspiracy claim

D. Supervisor Liability Claim (Count 1V)

Plaintiff contends that Officer Owens is liable for failing to properly super his
subordinate Officers. “According to traditional Third Circuit precedent, sigmey personnel
are only liable under 8§ 1983 if they participated in or had knowledge of violations, if they
directed others to commit violations, or if they had knowledge of and acquiesced in
subordinates’ violations.” Park v. Veasie, 720 F. Supp. 2d 658, 667 f.R010)(citing

Baker v. Monroe Twp., 50 F.3d 1186, 1191 (3d Cir. 1995)). However, several courts have noted

that with the decisiom Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009), “the Supreme Court cast doubt

on the viability of this standard for holding government officials liable based oy thie

supervisory liability under § 1983 Seeid.; Williams v. Lackawanna Cnty. Prison, No. 07-

1137, 2010 WL 1491132, at *4 (M.D. Pa. Apr. 13, 2Q0Bj)ckell v. Clinton County Prison Bd.,

658 F. Supp. 2d 621, 625-26@.D. Pa.2009). In Igbal the Supreme Court noted that “[b]ecause

vicarious liability is inapplicable t8ivens [v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau

of Narcotics 403 U.S. 388 (1971)] and 8§ 1983 suits, a plaintiff must plead that each
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Governmenwfficial defendant, thragh the officials own individual actions, has violated the
Constitution.” 556 U.S. a676. The Court also emphasized that “[ijn a § 1983 suit or a Bivens
action- where masters do not answer fag thrts of their servantsthe term ‘supervisory
liability’ is a misnomer.Absent vicarious liability, each Government official, his or her title
notwithstanding, is only liable for his or her own miscondudd.”at 677.

TheThird Circuithasrecognized the potential effect tligbal might have in altering the

standard for supervisory liability in_a Bivens or a § 1983 ssiteBayer v. Monroe County

Children and Youth Servs., 577 F.3d 186, 191 (3d Cir. 2009) (noting that, in light of“igizal

uncertain whether proof of . . . personal knowledge [concerning a Fourteenth Amendment
violation of procedural due process], with nothing more, would provide a sufficient basis for
holding [the defendant]dble with respect to plaintifi$sourteenth Amendment claims under
§ 1983).

“However, it appears that, under a supervisory theory of liability, and even imfight
Igbal, personal involvement by a defendant remains the touchstone for establishing fabilit
the violation of a plaintiff's constitutional right.SeePark 720 F. Supp. 2d at 66Williams,
2010 WL 1491132, at *®Brickell, 658 F. Supp. 2d at 625-26. Thugemains unlikely that
Plaintiff can rely on the simple fact that Officer Owens allegedtyuiesced in Officer Gori’s
violations to establish a claifor supervisor liability in lightof the_Igbal ruling. However, we
have already determined that a jury could conclude that Officer Owens usedvexiess
against Plaintiff in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Additionally, Officer Owdgestify
that he was the officer in charge on the day of the incident. (James Owens Dep. 1/19/16, p.

14:11-14.) Therefore, a jury could conclude that Officer Owens, as the superviging of&s
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personally involved in the violation of Plaintiff’'s Constitutiomglhts making summary
judgment improper at this time.

E. Monell Claim (Count V)

Although it is not made abundantly clear, Plaintiff appears to bring both a Mtaiadl
and a failure to train claim against Lansdale. While the legal standardsigguweese claims
are similar in many respects, | will consider the claims individuzdlpw.

1. Monell Claim Regarding Municipal Policy or Custom

The municipal liability claims at issue in the instant Motion arise under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
Under 8§ 1983 “a municipality cannot be held liable solelyalose it employs a tortfeasoor, in
other words, a municipality cannot be held liable . . . on a respondeat superior thhdongll,
436 U.S. at 691Rather, liability under § 1983 attaches to a municipality only where the
“government’s policy or custom, whether made by its lawmakers or by wWiusse edicts or
acts may fairly be said to represent official policy, inflicts the injug.”at 694. Thus, there
must be “a direct causal link between a muraktjgolicy or custom and the alleged constitutional

deprivation.” _City of Canton v. Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 385 (1989).

Thereforethe municipality is liable ithe plaintiff canestablish: (1) the municipality had
a policy’ or custonf that deprived him of his constitutional rights; (2) the municipality acted
deliberately and as the moving force behind the deprivation; and (3) his injury was caused by

the identified policy or customBryan (hty., 520 U.S. at 403-04iting, inter alia Monell, 436

U.S. at 690-91, 694).

’” A municipal policy is a “statement, ordinance, regulation, or decisfiziady adopted and promulgated by [a
local governing] body’s officers.’'SeeMonell, 436 U.S. at 690.

8 A custom “is an act ‘that has not been formally approved by an appeogeaisioamaker,’ but that is ‘so
widespread as to have the force of lawNatale v. Camden Cty. Corr. Facility18 F.3d 575, 584 (3d Cir. 2003)
(quotingBd. of the Cnty. Comm’rs of Bryan Cnty. v. Brows20 U.S. 397, 404 (1997)).
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Here,Plaintiff does not allege that the underlying policies or direciivésuct Lansdale
police officers to engage in unconstitutional behavior. (Am. Compl. 11 62-69.) Nor does
Plaintiff allege that the policies directives instructed the Defendant Officers to use the force
they allegedly did, i.e., the chicken wing and whiplash. (Pl.’s Mot. in Opp. of Summ. J. at 20-
22.) Rather Plaintiff argues thatansdalevas deliberately indiffererior failing to enact
adequate policies and directives related to pat down searches and the use offihice.

“[D]eliberate indifference’ is a stringent standard of fault, requiringppthat a
municipal actor disregarded a known or obvious consequence of his a@&iyari Cnty, 520
U.S. at 410. @linarily, “[a] pattern of similar constitutional violations' necessary “to

demonstrate deliberate indifference&Cbnnick v. Thompson, 563 U.S. 51, 62 (2011).

“Nevertheless, the Supreme Court posited in Catfitanhin certain suations, the need . can be
said to be ‘so obvious,’ that failure to do so couldperly be characterized as ‘deliberate
indifference’ to constitutional rightsven without a pattern of constitutional violatidns.

Thomas v. Cumberland Cnty., 749 F.3d 217, 223 (3d Cir. 2014) (citing Canton, 489 U.S. at 390

n.10 (internal quotationstted)). Accordingly, b survive summary judgment under this
deliberate indifference standard, “the plaintiff must produce facts tetastgpw the City knew
of a pattern of constitutional violations or that such consequences were so obvioilg the
conduct can only be characterized as deliberate indifference.” Fe8sefF. Supp. 2d at 531-32

(citing Bielevicz v. Dubinon, 915 F.2d 845, 851 (3d Cir. 199®)e will address eaghossible

avenue for liabilityseparately below.

°“Although the deliberate indifference standard was originally used fisralleging a failure to train police
officers, this standard has been adopted in other municipal poigtgm liability cases.’Pelzer v. City oPhila,
656 F. Supp. 2d 517, 533 n.26 (E.D. Pa. 2009) (cBieck v. City of Pittsburgl89 F.3d 966, 97472 (3d Cir.
1996) (citing_Simmons v. City of Phile947 F.2d 1042, 1070 (3d Cir. 1991)).
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a. Pattern of Constitutional Violations
Plaintiff has not alleged that Lansdale knew of a pattern of constitutionaimnsat
Plaintiff has not identified a single incident of excessive force used bgthayofficers in the
Lansdale Police Department. Atddnally, none of the Defendantsve ever been accused of
using excessive force prior to this incident. (Defs.” Mot. for of Summ. J. Ex. dndsait
Officers’ Answers to InterrogatoriesPBlaintiff has had an opportunity to conduct discovery
regarding Lansdale police practices, and at the summary judgment stage, he has been unable to
present evidence of any unconstitutional patterns or practices. Therefortff B&nnot rely on
this theory for hisdeliberate indifference” argument.
b. Obvious
Since héhas not shown a pattern of constitutional violations, Plaintiff must provéhthat
need for government actiovas“so obvious,’ thafLansdale’s}failure to do so could properly
be characterized as ‘deliberate indiffiece’ to constitutional righ.t"s10 Canton, 489 U.S. at 390
n.10. This is oftemeferred to ashe Canton Singleincident standard.In these situations,
“courts should consider ‘[t]he likelihood that [a] situation will recur and the preditgahat an
officer lacking specific tools to handle traatuation will violate citizenstights™ Pelzer 656 F.
Supp. 2d at 531-3iting Bryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 409). “This indicates recurrence,
apparentness, and the likelihood of constitutional injury are a few of the factorgdken into

account.” Id. (citing Walker v. City of New York, 974 F.2d 293, 297-98 (2d Cir. 1992)).

The Suprem€ourt in_Cantoroffered a hypothetical example of this “singheident”

liability:

9«Though drawn from a different context, language exjgjmleliberate indifference with respeetfailure to
train claims has been used generally and is instructive on what kinds of censegare obvious or notPelzer
656 F. Supp. 2d at 534.
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city policymakers know to a moral certainty that their police

officers will be required to arrest fleeing felonBhe city has

armed its officers with firearms, in part to allow them to

accomplish this task. Thus, the need to train officers in the

constitutional limitatbons on the use of deadly force . . . can be said

to be ‘so obvious,’ that failure to do so could properly be

characterized as ‘deliberate indifferent@tonstitutional rights
Canton, 489 U.S. at 390 n.10. However, the Supreme Court in Connick thabadistrict
attorney’s failure to train his prosecutors “in therady obligations d[id]not fall within the
narrow range o€anton’s hypoth&zed singlancidentliability.” 563 U.S.at 64 The Court
reasoned that “[a]ttorneys are trained in the law and equipped with the toolspceinded
apply legal principles, understand constitutional limits, and exercise legalgadgnd. In

contrast to Cantgrthere was “no reason to assume that police academy applicants are familiar

with the constitutional constraints on the use of deadly force. And, in the absence g traini
there is no way for novice officers to obtain the legal knowledge they require. Uoder t
circumstances there is an obvious need for some form of trainicg.”

The Court offered further contrast by noting that the City of Canton “hypothétjcal[
assume[d] that the armed police officers ha[d] no knowledge at all of the constltlmnsaon

the use of deadly force,” while in Connick it was undisputed “that the prosecutors . . . were

familiar with the generaBradyrule.” 1d. at67. Thus, we mat determine wheth@&ur case
more closely resemble#ite plainly obvious neeb train armed police officeran the

constitutional limitaions on the use of deadly force’ in Canton . . . [or] the lack of such an

obvious need in Connick, where prosecutors had a legal education and ethical obligations and the

allegedly necessary training was nuantechomas v. Cumberland Cnty., 749 F.3d 217, 225 (3d

Cir. 2014)(internal citations omitted).
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The Third Circuit in Thomasffers some furtheguidance. The @urtheld thathe

circumstances of its caseere more similar to those ®anton than Connickln Thomas a

prisoner filed a § 1983 suit based on being attacked by other innGseisl. at 219. “The

attack occurred after a sevemainute long verbal argument between [the prisoner] and a group
of [other] inmates in the presence of corrections officers” who “could telatfight was
imminent” but did not interfere until the prisoner suffered an injury that “left [kviti} no sight

in one eye.”ld. at 219-20. The plaintiff alleged that Cumberland Cowrgty liable under the
“single incident theory” since it was deliberately indifferent for failing tontrs officersin

conflict de-escalation and intervention training as part of its mandatosgepree training
requirementsld. at 223.

The Court in Thomas hettiatthe case should have been permitted to go to trial since

the plaintiff “put forward evidence that fights reguladgcurred in the prison” and that the
“frequency of fights” along with “the volatile nature of the prison” madeoation of rights
likely to occur if the guards were not given de-escalation and interventiomgyaihus
demonstrating that the failute provide intervention training establishiae requisite
“deliberate indifference” on the part of the municipalitg. at 225-26.

Anothercase analyzing similar facts to the one before usRet=er 656 F. Supp. 2d
517. The Court ifPelzerwas tasked with determining whether the city was deliberately
indifferent forfailing to implement foot pursuit and partner splitting policies for its police force.
Seeid. at 531-36. The Counieldthat the city was not on notice of past constitutimnahtions;
however, the city’s failure to implement these policies argsiably an obvious error that should
be left for the jury to decideSeeid. at 533-35. The Court held:

Here, there was no stated policy or custom, but a reasonable jury
could find the failure to establish pursuit policies creates a
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sufficiently obvious risk to the rights of pursuit subjects. Foot
pursuits are hardly uncommon for a police force serving a city as
large and populous as Philadelphia. Accepting this statement as
true the failure to provide a policy or guidelines could be
considered an apparent or obvious omission. A jury may also be
able to conclude that the issue of pursuit and patrol pohcesthe
result of a policymaker’s decision, and that the Gitynission

was the moving factor behind the plaihts injury.

Id. at 535. However, the plaintiff in that case provided the court with a report on thegrai
academy, which concluded that the officers had “virtually no training in footlipai’sld. The

report also included interviews of numerous police officers and concludefiedrs and
supervisorgwere] not adequately trained or given clear direction on the appropriate response to
situations.” Id. In addition to the report addressing trening, plaintiff presented the court

with numerous statistics that a jury could conclude showédienciesn its training programs.

Id.

Here, d&hough not precisely analogous, we find that this case more closely resembl

Connick than it doe€anton. Plaintiff’'s expert noted that Lansdale and/or its police chief “failed

to produce a written policy that would limit discretion and help guide their offme how to
conduct ‘pat downs’ of individuals.” (Expert Rept. at 4.) The expert opinethibdalls below
generally accepted standards regarding written policy and proced8ezsd.\ WhenOfficer
Gori wasasked if he was trained in pat down techniques, he responded, “not pe8eeDayid
Gori Dep. 1/19/16, p. 10:11-13.) However, Officers Owens and McCarrick did intheatkey
were trained in pat down searches. ($mmes Owens Dep. 1/19/16, p. 40:2-4; Richard
McCarrick Dep. 1/19/2016, p. 8:19-21.)

Theobvious need to train police officers who lack knowledge of the constitutional
constrants on the use of deadly fortteat we saw ir€anton parallels the obvious need to train

police officers who lack knowledge of the constitutional constraints on how to perfoopex pr
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pat down search. Relying on Canton, the Courts in ThomaBelrdrboth focused on the fact

that there was a complete lack of traintogshow “deliberate indifference.” _Thomas, 749 F.3d
at 226 (noting that there was a “complete lack of trainingesescalation and intervention
Pelzer 656 F. Supp. 2d at 535 (noting that the officers had “virtually no training in foot
pursuits”).

Here, there is not a complete lack i@ining; ratherthe expersimply identified
deficiencies in the written pioly. The Expert Rport did not question any Lansdale police
officers or delve into the question of whether the Officers were actuailhett in the area like
the expert did ifPelzer, which was a fact the Pelg@ourt relied upon to deny summary
judgment. Pelzer 656 F. Supp. 2d at 535-36. Both Officer Owens and Officer McCarrick did
indicate that they were tradin pat down searchesSéeJames Owens Dep. 1/19/16, p. 40:2-4;
Richard McCarrik Dep. 1/19/2016, p. 8:19-21.) Although Officer Gori indicated he was not
“per se” trainedhe provided a detailed explanation of why and how to peréofirerry Stop,”
which is a term commonly used for a pat down sedhaneby, indicatinghathe hasadequate
knowledge in the areaSéeDavid Gori Dep. 1/19/16, p. 11:6-14:3This is not a situation

where the Officers lacked a complé&t®owledge in the area like Pelzerand_ ThomasRather,

just as inConnickwere the prosecutors were familiar with Brdyrule, Defendants hewrgre
knowledgeable and familiar with pat down searches from their previous training.

Additionally, Plaintiff did not provide theharacteristics of probabilitike those cited in
Thomas. It is unclear whether pat down searchegrdoequently within Lansdale. Considering
all of this evidenceand the facthatthe deliberate indifference staard is stringent, we find that
summary ydgment is appropriate. Although not having a written policy on pat down searches

may fall below the generally accepted standards according to Plaiexffert, this does not
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mean that Lansdaleas deliberately indifferentSimply put, Plaintiff did noprovide statistics
of the frequency of these pat down searches, like we s@twimas nor was there a complete

lack of training, like we saw iithomas, Canton, arféelzer Rather, the undisputed facts

indicatethatthe Defendant Officers were trained in pat down searches. Whether there were
adequatevritten rulesregarding the search&snot as clear; howevehere is not an “obvious
need” to train like we saw iBanton. We find that this type of omission does not rise to the
heighted level of “deliberate indifferenceBryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 410.

Similarly, we reject Plaintiff's argument that Lansdale was deliberately @ndift for not
having an up to date directive on the use of force. (Pl.’s Mot. in Opp. of Suran2GR2.)
Plaintiff's expert opined thdtansdale’s use of force policy fad to meet the national standard
regarding a law enforcement officer’s force for seizing a person. (BRpgt. atc.) However,
Plaintiff's expert also indicated that “law enforcement officers are tauoghitahe use of force
in the law enforcement adamy, and also igervice, as well as other training programs
authorized by their agency and the statéd.) ( Defendants also indicate that they have
mandatory stat&raining on the use of force provided under the state governing bibey —
Pennsylvara MunicipalPolice Officers Training and Education Commissi@Defs.” Mot. for
of Summ. Jat 1718.) Similartothe pat down searches claim, the failure to have a
contemporary use of force directive does not rise to the level of “deliberdterigrace” as the
Officers had extensive training in the area.

We note that Plaintiff has cited zero instances of prior excessive force claims by
Lansdale’gpoliceofficers  Althoughthis is not a requiremestnceLansdale could still be

liable under the Cantdisingle incident” standard, we do find ththe fact thaPlaintiff has not

found one prior incident of excessivederindicative of the adequacy of the training program
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Consequently, we find that Lansdale’s directive regarding use of force was deficient as to
consider it “deliberate indifference,” as that term is define@&nton. See489 U.S. at 390
n.10. Therefore, summary judgment will be granted in favor of Defendants.
2. Failureto Adequately Train
Municipality liability under § 1983 may also relate to the training of police officer

Canton, 489 U.S. at 388. Howevee liability occurs in limited circumstances aodly exists
if two requiranents are metSeeid. at 388-90.First, this liability arises “only where the failure
to train amounts to deliberate indifference to the rights of persons with whom tte quotie
into cont&t.” Id. Second;the identified deficiency in [the] training program must be closely
related to the ultimate [constitutional] injuryldl. at 391. The Supreme Court explained this
limited scope of liability for failure to train:

It may seem contrarp common sense to assert that a municipality

will actually have a policy of not taking reasonable steps to train its

employees. But it may happen that in light of the duties assigned

to specific officers or employees the need for more or different

training is so obvious, and the inadequacy so likely to result in the

violation of constitutional rights, that the policymakers of the city

can reasonably be said to have been deliberately indifferent to the

need.
Id. at 390.

This deliberate indifference is the same strict standard as discussed aboBeyaSee

Cnty., 520 U.S. at 410%[W]hen city policymakers are on actual or constructive notice that a

particular omission in their training program causes city employees to violatagitize

constitutional rights, the city may be deemed deliberately indifferent if theypwiers choose

1 Although not relevant to our case, it is worth noting that a municipakity also be liable, in very limited
circumstances, for failing to adequately screen the employees befagethgim. SeeBryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 411
(holding that a city is only liable when “aduate scrutiny of an applicant’'s background would lead a reasonable
policymaker to conclude that the plainly obvious consequence of the ddoisia the applicant would be the
deprivation of a third party’s federally protected right”).
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to retain that program.Connick, 563 U.Sat 61 (citingBryan (nhty., 520 U.S. at 407). Again, if

there is not a history of past constitutional violations, a plaintiff may rely on ke sngdent

when the failure to train “so obvious,’ thiés failure to do so could properly be characterized as
‘deliberate indifference’ to constitutional rightsSeeCanton, 489 U.S. at 390 n;1Bryan

Cnty., 520 U.S. at 40noting that‘[t]he likelihood that the situation will recur and the
predictability that an officer lacking specific tools to handle that situation wikte citizens’

rights could justify a finding that policymakem&cision noto train the officer reflected
‘deliberate indifferencd.

“[ A] municipality’s deliberately indifferent failure to trainnst established by (1)
presenting evidence of the shortcomings of an individual; (2) proving that an otheowisd
training program occasionally was negligently administered; or (3) sgpwithout more, that
better training would have enabled an offieeavoid the injuryeausing conduct.’'Simmons v.
City of Phila, 947 F.2d 1042, 1060 (3d Cir. 1991Dnly where a failure to train reflects a
‘deliberate’ or ‘consious’ choice by a municipality a ‘policy’ as defired by [the Cours] prior
cases can a city be liable for such a failure un@8et983” Canton, 489 U.S. at 389.

Here, we find thaPlaintiff has failed to establish that Lsalale’s training practices rose
to the stringent standard ‘@feliberate indifferencé Bryan Cnty, 520 U.S. at 410This
“deliberate indifference” standard and facts are all the same from our earlysisablove, and
we adopt all of that reasoning hei®@eesupra Section E(1). Although there may have been
some flaws in the policies and directives, we find that Plaintiff has not showhelizfendant
Officers actually lackeddequatdraining. Without a showing by Plaintiff of a lack of adequate
training it is not “so obvious” to Lansdale that their training was deficient. Also, withut a

evidence of prior constitutional violations, it indicates that the training had b&emesit prior

30


https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1991172850&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Ib4e4982c987111de8bf6cd8525c41437&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_1060&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_1060
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1991172850&pubNum=0000350&originatingDoc=Ib4e4982c987111de8bf6cd8525c41437&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_1060&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_350_1060
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1983&originatingDoc=Ib4e4982c987111de8bf6cd8525c41437&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989029971&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=Ib4e4982c987111de8bf6cd8525c41437&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)

to the alleged conduct in this cad@aintiff is attempting to use the argument that better training
would have possibly avoided traiegedinjury causing condudiy Defendantsan argument
that has been rejected by the Third Circuit. Sieemons 947 F.2d at 1060Therefore,
summary judgment will be granteal flavor of Lansdale for Count V.

F. Qualified Immunity for Officer McCarrick and Officer Owens

Defendants argue that even if the issue of whether thera @Gasstitutional violation
wastoo close to call, Officer McCarrick and Officer Owens aegertheless entitled to qualified
immunity. (Defs.” Mot. for of Summ. J. at 14-16)The doctrine of qualified immunity protects
government officials ‘from liability for civil damages insofar as their cohdoes not violate
clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasgpatsien would have

known.” Pelzer 656 F. Supp. 2d at 535 (quotiRgarson v. Callahab55 U.S. 223, 231 (2009)

(citations omitted)). “It balances the interests in ensuring officialfi@ld accountable when
they act irresponsibly in thegositions while shielding thenfrom harassment, distraction, and
liability’ when they act responsiblyId.

To determine whether this immunity applies, the Supreme Court providedsaeo-

analysis in Saucier v. Kgt533 U.S. 194 (2001)First, “[tlaken in the light most favorable to the

partyasserting the injury, do tHacts alleged show the officertonduct violated a constitutional
right?” Id. at 201. “If the answer is no, then the inquiry is concluded. If, on the other hand, the
plaintiff has satisfied the first step, the counust ask whether the right was clearly
established” Pelzer 656 F. Supp. 2d at 535 (quotiSgqucier 533 U.S. at 201).

Here, | will deny the Motion as it pertains to Officer OweAs. discussed earlier, there
are genuine disputes regarding the mater@bkfaf whether Office©OwensviolatedPlaintiff's

Fourth Amendment rights by using excessive force, and Plaintiff's Eight Amesrtdights for
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failing to intervene whehe allegedly stood by &3fficer Goriused excessive force against
Plaintiff. Because we argnable to conclusively determired, this time whetherOfficer Owens
violatedPaintiff's constitutional rights, the inquiry is concluded &idicer Owenss not
entitled to qualified immunity at this time.

However, | will grant the Motion as itgptains to Officer McCarrickAs outlined above,
we have determined as a matter of law that Officer McCarrick has not violated atiyuciomal
rights of Plaintiff. Therefore, Officer McCarrick is entitled gualified immunity

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment iscoirapeet
and denied in part. The Motion is denied with respect to Coamis IV allegingexcessive
force and supervisor liability against Officer Owens. For Count Il allefarigre to intervene,
summary judgment is granted as it relates to Officer McCarrick, but it is deniggkeasins to
Officer Owens For Countsll and Valleging conspirey and municipality liability, summary
judgment is granted. Finally, we find ti@fficer McCarrick is entitled to qualified immunity;
however, Officer Owens is not.

An appropriate @ler follows.

32



